ALASKA STATE LEGQ SLATURE
HOUSE STATE AFFAI RS STANDI NG COVM TTEE
March 14, 2013
8:11 a.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representative Bob Lynn, Chair
Representative Wes Keller, Vice Chair
Representative Lynn Gattis
Representati ve Shel |l ey Hughes
Represent ati ve Doug | saacson
Represent ati ve Jonat han Krei ss- Tonki ns

VEVBERS ABSENT
Representative Charisse MIlett
COW TTEE CALENDAR

SENATE BILL NO 37
"An Act extending the term nation date of the Statew de Suicide
Prevention Council; and providing for an effective date."

- MOVED SB 37 QUT OF COW TTEE
HOUSE BILL NO 3
"An Act relating to voter identification at the polls; and
relating to the counting of absentee and questioned ballots."
- MOVED HB 3 QUT OF COW TTEE
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON

BILL: SB 37
SHORT TITLE: EXTEND SU Cl DE PREVENTI ON COUNCI L
SPONSOR(s): SENATOR(s) FAI RCLOUGH

01/ 25/ 13 (S) READ THE FI RST TIME - REFERRALS
01/ 25/ 13 (S) L&C, FIN

02/ 05/ 13 (S) L&C AT 1:30 PM BELTZ 105 (TSBI dg)
02/ 05/ 13 (S) Moved SB 37 Qut of Conmittee
02/ 05/ 13 (S) M NUTE( L&C)

02/ 06/ 13 (S) L&C RPT 3DP 2NR

02/ 06/ 13 (S) DP: M CCl CHE, STEDMAN, ELLIS

02/ 06/ 13 (S) NR. DUNLEAVY, OLSON

02/ 22/ 13 (S) FIN RPT 7DP

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -1- March 14, 2013



02/ 22/ 13 (S) DP:  MEYER, KELLY, HOFFMAN, FAI RCLOUGH,
Bl SHOP, DUNLEAVY, OLSON

02/ 22/ 13 (S) FIN AT 9:00 AM SENATE FI NANCE 532
02/ 22/ 13 (S) Moved SB 37 Qut of Conmittee

02/ 22/ 13 (S) M NUTE( FI N)

02/ 25/ 13 (S) TRANSM TTED TO (H)

02/ 25/ 13 (S) VERSI O\: SB 37

02/ 27/ 13 (H) READ THE FI RST TIME - REFERRALS
02/ 27/ 13 (H) STA, FIN

03/ 14/ 13 (H) STA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 106

BILL: HB 3

SHORT TI TLE: PHOTO | DENTI FI CATI ON VOT1 NG REQUI REMENT
SPONSOR(s): REPRESENTATI VE(s) LYNN, KELLER

01/ 16/ 13 (H PREFI LE RELEASED 1/ 7/ 13

01/ 16/ 13 (H READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS
01/ 16/ 13 (H) STA, JUD

02/ 21/ 13 (H) STA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 106

02/ 21/ 13 (H) Heard & Hel d

02/ 21/ 13 (H) M NUTE( STA)

03/ 14/ 13 (H) STA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 106

W TNESS REG STER

SENATOR ANNA FAI RCLOUGH

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: As sponsor, presented SB 37.

KATE BURKHART, Executive Director

St at ewi de Sui ci de Preventi on Counci l

Di vi sion of Behavioral Health (DBH)

Departnent of Health and Social Services (DHSS)
Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Provided information regarding the
St atewi de Suicide Prevention Council during the hearing on SB
37.

FORREST WOOLFE, Staff

Representati ve Bob Lynn

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Presented HB 3 on behalf of Representative
Lynn, joint prinme sponsor.

JULI ET H LDRETH

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 2- March 14, 2013



Anchor age, Al aska
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the hearing on HB 3.

JEFFREY M TTMAN, Executive Director

American G vil Liberties Union of Al aska (ACLU of Al aska)

Anchor age, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified that, as a drafted, HB 3 would
not protect voting rights.

TRAVIS WLLIS, Vice President
Al askans for Al aska
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 3.

JOY HUNTI NGTON

Tanana Chi efs Conference (TCC

Fai r banks, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to HB 3.

GAI L FENUM Al, Director

Di vision of Elections

O fice of the Lieutenant Governor

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Revi ewed the division's poll worker system
and answered questions during the hearing on HB 3.

KEN HELANDER, Director of Advocacy

AARP

Anchor age, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to HB 3.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

8:11:11 AM

CHAIR BOB LYNN called the House State Affairs Standing Commttee
nmeeting to order at 8:11 a.m Representatives Gattis, Hughes,
| saacson, Keller, Kreiss-Tonkins, and Lynn were present at the

call to order.

SB 37- EXTEND SUI Cl DE PREVENTI ON COUNCI L

8:11:14 AM

CHAI R LYNN announced that the first order of business was SENATE
BILL NO 37, "An Act extending the termnation date of the
Statewide Suicide Prevention Council; and providing for an
effective date.”

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 3- March 14, 2013



8:11:39 AM

SENATOR ANNA FAI RCLOUGH, Al aska State Legislature, as sponsor,
presented SB 37. She stated that SB 37 would extend the Al aska
Sui cide Prevention Council (ASPC) from 2013 to 20109. She
relayed that in 2001, the Alaska State Legislature created the
ASPC, which is made up of 17 nenbers: 2 nmenbers appointed by
the Senate President, 2 nenbers appointed by the Speaker of the
House, and 13 nenbers appointed by the governor. She said the
duties of the council are outlined in AS 44.29.350, which read
as foll ows:

Sec. 44.29.350. Duties.

The council shall serve in an advisory capacity to the
| egislature and the governor wth respect to what
actions can and should be taken to

(1) inmprove health and wellness throughout the
state by reducing suicide and its effect on
i ndividuals, famlies, and communiti es;

(2) broaden the public's awareness of suicide and
the risk factors related to suicide;

(3) enhance suicide prevention services and
prograns throughout the state;

(4) devel op heal t hy comuni ties t hr ough
conpr ehensi ve, col | aborati ve, comuni t y- based and
faith-based approaches;

(5) develop and inplenent a statew de suicide
prevention pl an;

(6) strengt hen exi sting and build new
partnershi ps between public and private entities that
wi | | advance suicide prevention efforts in the state.

SENATOR FAI RCLOUGH renm nded the conmmttee that Al aska has the

hi ghest rate of suicide in the nation. She said suicide is
preventable, and the state can do sonething about [those
statistics]. She said she is honored to have served for over
three years as a nenber of the House of Representatives on the
council, and she currently serves on the council as an appointee
from the Senate. She reported that the council has done great
things with the support of the |egislature. She indicated that
the council has connections wth mlitary personnel, the

spiritual community, schools and youth, and with those who have
been affected by suicide. She asked the commttee to support the
proposed extension of the council.

8:14: 00 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -4- March 14, 2013



CHAIR LYNN stated his support of the proposed |egislation and
t hanked the sponsor for bringing it forward. He said one case
of suicide is one case too nmany.

8:14:10 AM

REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES said a constituent is involved in a
program that goes into schools and offers a dramatization with a
nmessage of hope, and she encouraged Senator Fairclough to
famliarize herself wth the program which is called, "Carry
the Cure.'

8:14: 56 AM

REPRESENTATI VE | SAACSON t al ked about another group called, "This
Generation Mnistries,” which is from North Pole, Al aska. He
asked how actively the council pursues connections to the
various groups working on suicide prevention throughout the
st at e.

SENATOR FAI RCLOUGH answered that there is a web site, which
connects all the resources throughout the state. She deferred
to the executive director of the council for further details.

8:15:51 AM

KATE BURKHART, Executive Director, Statew de Suicide Prevention
Council, Division of Behavioral Health (DBH), Departnent of
Health & Social Services (DHSS), told Representative |saacson
that one of the council's major roles is to "act as a clearing
house to connect conmunity-driven suicide prevention and
partners.” She said the council has allotted funds from its
limted travel budget to conduct outreach trips to three rural
areas of the state: tw nenbers went to Nenana two weeks ago, a
trip to Bethel and a small village outside of the Bethel hub has

just been planned, and the council wll coordinate rura
outreach in Kivalina with one of its nenbers there, pastor
Lowel | Sage. She said the council has nmet wth nenbers of

[ This] Generation Mnistries and nmany other community-driven
suicide prevention efforts in an attenpt to connect everyone
t oget her. She relayed that [stopsuicidealaska.org] is the
council's state suicide prevention portal and the primary way
peopl e are connect ed.

8:17:27 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 5- March 14, 2013



REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES asked what efforts the council nakes in
curbing substance abuse, which she said is often linked to
sui ci de.

M5. BURKHART answered that the council's five-year plan includes
a strategy to ensure Al askans have access to nental health and
substance abuse treatnent services when they ask for it. She
said substance abuse prevention and suicide prevention
coalitions in communities are often separate, and the council
encourages them to cone together as a wellness coalition or at
| east to becone partners.

8:18: 04 AM

REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES t al ked about the alarmng rate of suicides
by soldiers returning fromwar. She asked if that statistic has
increased in Alaska and if the council is doing anything about
t he issue.

M5. BURKHART returned to the issue of substance abuse to say
that two years ago, the Departnment of Health & Social Services
"co-located" the ASPC with the Advisory Board on Alcoholism &
Drug Abuse and the Alaska Mental Health Board; therefore, the
council has coordinated its efforts around behavioral health and
suicide prevention to create "one big novenent forward."
Returning to Representative Hughes' question regarding soldiers,
Ms. Burkhart said she cannot speak to what the Veterans
Adm nistration is doing to address suicide prevention, other
than what is reported to her fromits representative. She said
the Veterans Adm nistration has devel oped services and supports
for returning veterans who choose to engage in those services.
She said the State of Alaska has prioritized resiliency and
protective factors as part of the foundation for all of its
prevention efforts. She stated that for nore than a decade, the

council has been involved wth the Aaska Initiative for
Community Engagenent, as well as efforts to address adverse
chi | dhood experiences and to equip children to grow up as
heal thy adults and avoid addiction and serious nental illness.
8:20: 38 AM

REPRESENTATI VE KELLER asked what resources the council desires
and which are the areas it sees as in need of inprovenent.

M5. BURKHART referred to six goals of the state plan, nost of

whi ch can be categorized as things that can be done by Al askans,
by comunities, or by the state. For exanple, she said

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 6- March 14, 2013



communities have taken a huge role wth or wthout grant

support. She encouraged Representative Keller to read the
report just published by the council, which highlights many of
those conmunity efforts. She said last year the state
appropri ated $450, 000, which has already been inplenented in its
alternative schools and will be "a conpetitive process for other
school districts.”™ M. Burkhart relayed that 1,800 people were

trained |last year and the state has appropriated funding for
additional progranms that are being initiated; however, she said
there has not been a lot of research growmh. She said there is
a lot of interest in adverse chil dhood experiences, including
how they affect Al askans and how they can be prevented. She
indicated that other areas of research are not exciting to
ot hers but are in need of resources.

M5. BURKHART, in response to Representative Keller, said she has
not approached the Institute of Social & Economc Research
(I SER) . She said the organization with whom the council nost
closely coordinates is the Center for Al aska Native Health
Research (CANHR), at the University of Al aska Fairbanks. She
spoke highly of the organization and said the council has
connected CANHR with other conmmunity partners that want to nove
forward in a participatory research nodel. She said there is
al so conversation about "renewing the addiction studies chair"
at [the Institute for Circunpolar Health Studies] at the
University of Alaska Anchorage, which is under the guidance of
David L. Driscoll, PhD, who is interested in research related to
adverse chil dhood experi ence.

8:24:12 AM

M5. BURKHART, in response to Representative Keller, stated that
for each strategy in the state plan, there is a specific
popul ati on mneasure. She said the first inplenentation report
from the state plan shows that the rate of suicide in 2011
dropped by 23. She said that cannot yet be called a trend, and
she noted that data is still being gathered to determ ne how
many suicides occurred in that year by Al askans |iving outside
the state. She related that the council has seen a |arge
increase in the nunber of Alaskans who have been trained in an
"evi dence-based suicide prevention nodel," such as the applied
suicide intervention skills training and nental health first
aid, and she reiterated that there has been an increase in
community coalitions involved in suicide prevention

8:25:48 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -7- March 14, 2013



REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES asked how Al aska conpares to other states.

M5. BURKHART answered that the national suicide average is 11-12
per 100,000 people; Alaska's average is 19.5. She said there
are other Western states whose nunbers are also high, but Al aska
has been twi ce the national average for decades.

8:26: 46 AM

M5. BURKHART of fered an update on how the council responded to a
| egislative audit. The first recomrendation made in the audit
was that the council should evaluate its executive director and
menorialize the way it does business with its partner boards.
She noted that because of the council's limted neans, there is
a lot of support and sharing from the Mental Health Board and
the Advisory Board on Al coholism and Drug Abuse. She reported
that the council conpleted the evaluation in Decenber. She
explained that the <council has a process for doing [an
eval uation] annually in partnership with executive commttees of
the other two boards. She said the council has nenorialized the
way it does business so that its operation will not be affected
by any changes in |eadershinp. Ms. Burkhart said the second
recomrendation from the audit was for the council to nonitor
attendance and report it to the governor. She said the council
has instituted an attendance |aw the beginning of the present
fiscal year and will conmunicate that information to the Ofice
of the CGovernor, the Senate President, and the Speaker of the
House at the end of each fiscal year. She said the third
recommendation from the audit had to do wth developing and
noni toring performance neasures in conjunction with the Ofice

of Managenent & Budget. She said the <council has had
performance neasures in place for many vyears, related to
i ndi vidual council nenbers and the performance of suicide

performance neasures; however, it has not coordinated that with
the Ofice of Managenent & Budget in the past. She said the

council is working wth the Departnment of Health & Social
Services to match |anguages, because "they are not witten in
the same terns of art,” and it anticipates having that done by

the end of the fiscal year.
8:28:32 AM
CHAI R LYNN cl osed public testinony.

8:28: 40 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 8- March 14, 2013



REPRESENTATI VE KELLER opined that one of the greatest features
of the council is that it has the opportunity to engage services
from private organizations that exist across the state. He
remar ked that sonetinmes the legislature cannot direct its funds
t hat wel | .

8:29:12 AM

REPRESENTATI VE KELLER noved to report SB 37 out of commttee
with individual recomendations and the acconpanying fiscal
notes. There being no objection, SB 37 was reported out of the
House State Affairs Standing Conmittee.

8:.29: 25 AM

The conmttee took an at-ease from8:29 a.m to 8:32 a.m

8:32:12 AM

HB  3-PHOTO | DENTI FI CATI ON VOTI NG REQUI REMVENT

8:32:14 AM

CHAI R LYNN announced that the final order of business was HOUSE
BILL NO 3, "An Act relating to voter identification at the
polls; and relating to the counting of absentee and questioned
ballots."

CHAIR LYNN, as joint prine sponsor, noted that this was the
commttee's second hearing on HB 3. He described HB 3 as a
proactive bill, and expressed his hope that it would be noved
out of conmttee to be heard next by the House Judiciary
Standing Conmttee, which would focus on any |egal issues. He
stated that the only purpose of the proposed legislation is to
ensure that a person who shows up at a polling place to vote is
who he/she clainms to be. He enphasized that the proposed
| egi slation would not prevent any qualified voter with a desire
to vote fromdoing so. [Under HB 3], any registered voter would
be allowed to vote by showng tw fornms of non-photo
identification (ID) or being identified by two official election

wor kers or presenting one formof photo ID. If the voter cannot
meet any of those criteria, he/she can cast a provisional or
guestioned ballot. He said any voter who has ever qualified for
the Al aska permanent fund dividend (PFD) should have the
docunents required to vote [under HB 3], including a birth
certificate. He opined that "these comoDn-sense provisions
shoul d renpve any reasonable and | ogical objection to HB 3." He

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 9- March 14, 2013



i ndicated that Native voters would be just as able to vote under
HB 3 as any other qualified voter.

8:34:59 AM

FORREST WOOLFE, Staff, Representative Bob Lynn, Alaska State
Legi slature, presented HB 3 on behalf of Representative Lynn,
joint prinme sponsor. He stated that HB 3 is a proactive neasure
t hat seeks to further secure Alaska's elections, whi | e
respecting the state's "unique voting population.™ He stated
that while voting fraud may not be rampant in Alaska, many of
Al aska's el ections are decide by only a handful of votes or even
a coin toss, which makes every vote count and even one case of
voter fraud one too many.

MR, WOOLFE said under HB 3, the sinplest way to vote is to
provi de photo ID at the polls; however, the proposed |egislation
acknow edges that obtaining a photo ID may be difficult for sone
Al askans and would allow two forns of non-photo ID, such as a
birth certificate, social security card, hunting and fishing
license, voter |ID card, or tribal 1D He reiterated Chair
Lynn's remark that those registered to receive the PFD had to
subnmit an original or certified copy of a birth certificate to
t he Permanent Fund Division; therefore, the assunption is that a
person who receives a PFD has a birth certificate. M. Wolfe
said in order to receive food stanps from the state, a person
must show the Division of Public Assistance his/her photo ID,
social security car, and birth certificate. He said it would
appear that a voter receiving sone form of public assistance
woul d have access to sone of the docunments accepted [under HB
3].

MR. WOOLFE stated that in order to receive services from the
[US. Departnment of Health and Human Services'] Indian Health
Service (IHS) agency, a person mnust present his/her tribal 1D,
which is another accepted docunent under HB 3. He added to
Chair Lynn's opening remarks that the option to be identified by
two election officials would nmean that both elections officials
woul d have to be willing to sign their names next to the voter's
name in the register. He said currently many voters in the
Yukon/ Kuskokwim Delta are wusing recognition of an election
of ficial as a form of identification, and the proposed
| egislation would increase the requirenent of that form of
identification from one election official to two. He echoed
Chair Lynn's statenent that a final option for soneone voting
wi thout any form of ID and not recognized by two officials would
be, under HB 3, to cast a questioned ballot. He noted that the

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -10- March 14, 2013



committee packet includes a sanple of a questioned ballot, which

he said illustrates how easy it is to fill out. He reinforced
Chair Lynn's statement that the proposed |egislation would nake
el ections nore secure, wthout disenfranchising voters. He

requested the conmttee' s support of HB 3.
8:38: 03 AM

CHAIR LYNN reopened public testinmony [which was closed at the
| ast hearing on 2/21/13].

8:38:14 AM

JULIET HI LDRETH stated that as an Alaska Native, she 1is
di sturbed by remarks that Al aska Natives |ack the sophistication
and education to obtain a ballot and provide |ID. She offered
her understanding that "nost people from the Denocratic Party
seem to pronote that." She said she has two forns of ID: a
tribal certificate and a U S. Departnent of the Interior, Bureau
of Indian Affairs (BIA), certificate of Indian blood (CIB), the
latter of which includes her nmiden nane, her birth name, her
soci al security nunber, and her regional and tribal affiliation.
She said she nust present that ID, along with photo ID, in order
to receive any Indian health service. M. Hildreth related that
both her uncle and grandfather served in the |egislature. She
said she is saddened that Alaska's "junior senator and Ms.
Brown" continue to "perpetuate a non-problem"” She enphasi zed
the inportance of preventing voter fraud. She stated, "This is
the part of the bigotry that keeps going on in the news and in
politics." She added, "This is nuch ado about nothing." Ms.
Hildreth stated that under the U ner adm nistration, there were
people in the cancer wing of Providence Hospital who were
prom sed ballots that were never delivered. She related an
experience when she showed up to vote at 7:30 a.m and found the
doors | ocked, and she said the candidate who |ost that election
by a few votes was not happy. She comended Lieutenant Gover nor
Mead Treadwell for having nmade it so nuch easier for people to
obt ai n ball ots.

8:42: 02 AM

JEFFREY M TTMAN, Executive Director, Anmerican Cvil Liberties
Union of Alaska (ACLU of Al aska), enphasized that the ACLU of
Al aska is a nonpartisan organi zation, whose sole responsibility
is to defend the legal and constitutional rights of all
Al askans; the organization reviews all bills as they relate to
fundanmental rights. He stated that HB 3 would inpinge on

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -11- March 14, 2013



fundanmental rights, because it would set up differing systens
for individuals who live in different parts of Al aska. He gave
the exanple that the State of Al aska provides differing services
from the DW depending on what part of the state a person
resi des. On that basis, he said, the schenme of the proposed
| egislation, as currently drafted, would discrimnate against
those who live in certain parts of the state.

8:44: 26 AM

MR. M TTMAN said the question is how the courts will ook at the
proposed | egi sl ation. He said those who live in rural parts of
Al aska are disproportionately Al aska Native, and in the United
States there has been a history of discrimnation against those

in mnority groups, including Native Al askans. Based on that
history, he said, the courts wll Iook at HB 3 and see
differential inpact - that sonebody who lives in Anchorage and

can easily provide a photo ID can vote with no probl ens, whereas
an individual who lives in a rural part of Al aska cannot do that
- and determine that this is discrimnatory. He said the courts
also will look at the necessity of providing such a bill. The
courts will ask whether there is an action the state needs to
take that neets an addressed need. He said, "In fact, we know
there is none." He said the history of voter fraud in Alaska is
mnimal if nonexistent. He said ACLU of Alaska is trying to
advise the legislature that it is likely the courts would strike
down HB 3 on the basis that there is no addressed need and there
would be a discrimnatory inpact on those who live in rural
ar eas.

8:46: 21 AM

MR MTTMAN said other states that have "l ooked at these sorts
of bills" have specific provisions that allow individuals to
obtain certain alternative IDs at no cost; however, HB 3, as

currently drafted, includes no such provision. To obtain the
alternate ID required under HB 3, such as obtaining a copy of a
marriage license or a birth certificate, involves a cost. He

stated, "To inpose on a voter any sort of requirenent to pay a
fee so that he or she can vote is absolutely forbidden under the
U.S. Constitution; this is called a poll tax." He said the ACLU
of Alaska is not saying that there was an intention to exclude
anyone when drafting the proposed |egislation; however, the

courts will consider the effect of the bill as drafted, and if
that effect is to require an individual to pay a fee in order to
be able to vote, then "that is unacceptable.” M. Mttnman said

he thinks "we" can all agree that voting is fundanental to

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -12- March 14, 2013



denocracy, and he said he accepts the statenment of the sponsor
that that is the intent of HB 3. He concluded, "W | ook forward

to working wwth the sponsor to craft a bill that makes voting
better for all Al askans. Unfortunately, as drafted, this bil
does not do that." He offered to answer questi ons.

8:47.:48 AM

REPRESENTATI VE KELLER noted that the House Judiciary Standing
Commttee will be able to work on any l|legal issues related to
the proposed |egislation. He said he respectfully disagrees
with sonme of the fundanental issues stated by M. Mttnan.
First, he said M. Mttman's statenent that the courts will | ook
at the history of fraud in Alaska is a prediction he said he
thinks is "a leap." Regarding M. Mttman's nention of the

conpelling interest of providing free and fair elections,
proposed that the real issue is not whether fraud exists but
whet her or not people perceive the voting system as trustworthy.
He said he has net people during canpaigning who say they don't
bot her to vote because "nobody seens to care.™

REPRESENTATI VE KELLER said the constitution talks about doing
things for the maxi num benefit of Al askans, which does not nean
just anyone who happens to be in the state; therefore, he said
"we" have a responsibility to "identify the legitimte borders
of the state of Al aska." Regardi ng the issue of making people
pay to vote, he suggested that perhaps a provision could be
added to HB 3 that would allow a free photo ID to "anybody who
asked for it." He opined that the way to frane the argunent is
not to say that "this is worthless because there is no fraud,"”
but rather that "we have a real strong responsibility to provide
a free and a fair election system in one that is shown to be
t here. ™

8:50:42 AM

MR MTTMAN clarified that when there is evidence of disparate
impact on a racial group, at that point the courts |ook at
various factors to determne whether a bill is constitutional

one of which is whether the actions are narrowy tailored to a
need. He said in this case the courts would | ook at the extent
of the fraud to determ ne how the need is being net. If there
were significant exanples of fraud, the courts would give nore
| eeway for greater need. Where there is no or little evidence
of fraud, the courts would determne there is "less room to
maneuver . " He stated, "So, | absolutely agree wth the
assertion of the vice chair that the responsibility of the state

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -13- March 14, 2013



to protect against fraud is inportant. What the courts wll
|l ook at is the tailoring and how close the fit is.”

8:51: 57 AM

REPRESENTATI VE KELLER asked M. Mttman if he is saying that
[the courts] would not |ook at "the need that we have to have a
pure, believable voter systenl or that he believes "they would
do that less than the need that would be presented if there were
fraud. "

MR MTTMAN clarified that the courts wll accept the state's
assertion that it has the responsibility to prevent against
fraud, but will want to see evidence that the nethod selected is

appropriately tailored to the evidence of fraud submtted. He
said ACLU of Alaska believes that in the absence of that
evidence, the courts will find that the details of HB 3 are too

broad, with too wide of an inpact, and do not appropriately fit
"to the unique circunstances of the state of Al aska."

REPRESENTATI VE KELLER posited that the issue is not so much
about constitutionality as it is about the conparison of the
need if there is fraud to the need to protect Al aska's system by
having an identifiable group of voters. He said he is not
convinced as to what the courts will do.

MR MTTMAN said the ACLU of Al aska tries to review various
cases across the country. He concurred with Representative
Keller that it is not possible to predict the court's decision
with certainty; however, he said the courts have historically
| ooked at cases in which there is an inpact on a racial mnority
with a greater degree of scrutiny. M. Mttman clarified he is
not saying it is not inportant to protect against fraud, but
said absent existing fraud, there wll be less wllingness [by
the courts] to accept a broad limtation where there is a
different responsibility on urban voters versus rural voters.

8:56: 04 AM

CHAIR LYNN noted that there are two attorneys, representing two
political parties, sitting on the House Judiciary Standing
Comm ttee, and he suggested that conmttee would be a good pl ace
to address sone of the interesting issues raised by M. Mttman.

8:56: 23 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -14- March 14, 2013



REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES asked M. Mttman for his suggestions
regardi ng how to i nprove upon the proposed | egislation.

8:56: 57 AM

MR MTTMAN answered that the first issue would be to ensure
equal opportunity to vote no matter where a voter lives in the
state. The second issue would be to ensure there is no cost to
the voter. The third issue would be to determ ne whether it is
reasonable to require two pole workers in all polling places in
Alaska in order to positively identify those voting wthout
photo IDs. Finally, he reiterated the inportance of identifying
evi dence of "the existing ills that are being guarded against."

8:59:31 AM

REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES stated her understanding that anyone who
is currently qualified to vote would, under HB 3, continue to be

qual i fied. She indicated the effect of the bill would be to
prevent soneone who is not a US. citizen from voting in an
el ecti on. She asked M. Mttman, "Do you agree wth the

Division of Elections that anyone that can vote right now,
whether or not they have a photo ID, and any Alaskan that's
turning 18, that does or doesn't have a ... photo ID would
continue to have their vote counted if this bill were to pass?”

MR MTTMAN stated that the election in Anchorage, |ast April

was chaoti c. He observed that Anchorage is not an area where
the city clerk, the Division of Elections, or poll workers are
i nexperienced, but elections are chall enging. He said in that

el ection there were many individuals not able to vote, ballots
were lost, and ballots were discovered long after the election
was over. He said the proposed legislation would set up a
schene of provisional voting and questioned ballots, and he
warned that any differential from the standard voting process
creates possibilities for confusion and for votes not to be
counted, and that has happened in Al aska. He said, "Wile
technically the rule, as drafted, nmay say your vote nay be
eventually counted if you vote a provisional ballot or a

guestioned ballot, if there's review, in point of fact, we know
from historical evidence that those votes are not counted."” He
said while sonebody my technically be allowed to vote,
differential standards in rural areas versus urban areas will be

of concern to the courts.

9:02: 50 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 15- March 14, 2013



REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES opined that it is inportant for the
committee to consider whether a technical systemis in place for
votes to be counted.

9:03: 23 AM

CHAIR LYNN said the provision for voting "other than photo ID
does not apply only to rural Alaska; it applies to every place
in Al aska, including urban areas.

9:03: 34 AM

REPRESENTATI VE KELLER asked M. Mttman to provide at sone tine
a specific exanple of soneone whose questioned vote did not get

count ed. He observed that in his response to Representative
Hughes, M. Mttman had described HB 3 as "intending to prevent
fraud." He reenphasized that the primary intent of the proposed

| egislation is to protect the pure identity of the electorate of
the state of Alaska, in a manner that elicits confidence in al
resi dents.

9:04: 38 AM

REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES asked how nmany questioned ballots end up
being "votes that are truly counted.”

CHAIR LYNN said Gail Fenum ai, the director of the Division of
El ecti ons, woul d answer questions.

9: 05: 35 AM

TRAVIS WLLIS, Vice President, testified in support of HB 3. He
stated that he grew up in a village and his children are
"native." He said he cannot board Alaska Airlines, ride on a
ferry, rent a room wite a check, or have a bank account, for
exanple, without an ID card. He said he cannot inmagi ne anyone
in Alaska, in this day and age, who does not have proper ID. He
opined that one of the nobst sacred rights of American citizens
is their ability to vote. He related that there are people from
other states, with registration cards, voting in his conmunity
of ElIfin Cove. He commended [the bill sponsors] for bringing
forth [HB 3].

9: 06: 58 AM

REPRESENTATI VE | SAACSON asked M. WIllis if his children mnust
provi de photo ID in order to receive nedical service fromIHS

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -16- March 14, 2013



MR. WLLIS answered no, because he said his children have a CIB
card, which he indicated is affiliated with the Southeast Al aska
Regi onal Health Consortium ( SEARHC). He further indicated that
[ID] cards issued by the BIA to nenbers of federally recognized
tribes are good anywhere in the country. In response to a
foll owup question, he confirned that the BIA ID card is not a
photo I D, however, he reiterated that "anybody over the age of
12 that wants to ride on Alaska Airlines or get on a state ferry
has to have a picture ID card.”

9:08: 11 AM

JOY HUNTI NGTON, Tanana Chiefs Conference (TCC), stated that the
TCC is adanmantly opposed to HB 3. Said related that she grew up
in a village and did not get a driver's license until she was 20
- two years after beconming eligible to vote. She said Al aska
Airlines does require photo ID;, however, her grandnother flies
only small aircraft carriers, which do not require photo ID.
She said there are elders who are bound to their conmmunities and
maybe fly to Fairbanks for health care, but do not fly Al aska
Airlines.

M5. HUNTI NGTON said she would like to know where the [voter]
fraud is occurring. She said she has people she does not know
lining up to vote in her village, and she said many tinmes there
is only one poll worker. She explained that she grew up in two
villages of 50 and 70 people, and finding soneone wlling and
eligible to be a poll worker is difficult. She said she does
not see a clear purpose in [the proposed legislation]. She said
she is the "get out the Native vote" coordinator and co-chair in
Fai rbanks, who works diligently to get people to register to
vote and struggles to teach people that the |egislature bel ongs
to them through their participation. She enphasized the
critical inportance of conveying that nessage to people in
vill ages, because all voices need to be heard. Ms. Huntington
stated, "To have this bill pass, | think it would be, for ne
personally, for our region, a major slap in the face." She
expressed concern that under HB 3, Native rights would becone
narrower and Native participation in elections would drop. She
stated her belief that "economcally, culturally, we're all tied
t oget her." She tal ked about her work in encouraging people to
support bills that help areas of the state, and said, "To have
this pass woul d be devastating.”

9:11:52 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -17- March 14, 2013



CHAIR LYNN said HB 3 is not ained at Native villages or anybody
el se, but to all Al aska voters regardless of ethnicity.

9:12: 09 AM

REPRESENTATI VE | SAACSON recollected that M. Lewis had said
there are people who vote in ElIfin Cove who are not even Al aska
resi dents. He offered his understanding that wunder HB 3, a
voter [without a photo ID] would still be allowed to vote a
guestioned ballot; therefore, he said he is not sure any
[imtations would be placed on voters or the Tanana Chiefs
[ Conference]. He asked Ms. Huntington to respond.

9:13: 28 AM

M5. HUNTI NGTON reiterated that sonetines there is just one pol
wor ker . She said if soneone from outside the village came to a
village polling place to vote, the single poll worker would not
recogni ze the person and would require ID. She said as a voter
registrar and trainer of voter registrars, she has the ability
to register people to vote if she recognizes them | f she does
not recognize them she asks for their photo ID. M. Huntington
said she does not see how voter fraud would occur under the
current system She reiterated that a single poll worker can
all ow soneone to vote upon recognition of the person, and she
said, "Requiring two people or an ID when they show up at the
poll just doesn't nake sense to ne."

9:15:26 AM

REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES asked Ms. Huntington if she would find HB
3 nore acceptable if an exception was nade for elders "of a
certain age" and if, instead of two officials, recognition of
the voter wthout a photo ID would have to be made by just one
el ection official, but also by one other resident.

M5. HUNTI NGTON said she thinks that would be better. She said
she knows it is the conmttee's job to consider whether the
obstacles that may be put before people nake sense, and she
acknow edged that that is not an easy task.

9:17: 29 AM

CHAI R LYNN queried whether [exenpting elders] would set up two
cl asses of Natives: elder and non-el der.

9:17:55 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 18- March 14, 2013



GAIL FENUM AI, Director, Division of Elections, Ofice of the
Li eutenant Governor, reviewed the division's poll worker system
She said the division tries to hire four to six poll workers in
each precinct, depending on the size of the precinct. She said
she has not personally been nmade aware of a situation in which
there has been just one election worker at a polling place
anywhere in the state. She suggested the only thing that could
have caused such a situation is if one of the workers had to run

home to take care of an issue, returning |ater. She said the
division trains at |least two workers at every precinct prior to
the el ection. In response to Chair Lynn, she said the division

has its election officials at each precinct check in to let the
di vision know the polling place is open, and, at that point, if
they were short on staff they would let the division know and
woul d be told to find other people. She reiterated that she has
never been informed of a situation in which a precinct has
operated all day long with | ess than two workers.

9:19: 43 AM

REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES asked how the division would handle a
situation in which there was only one [election official] during
early voting. She further asked what Ms. Fenum ai thought about
the idea of allowing an Al aska resident to serve as "the second
person."

M5. FENUM Al responded that there may be only one absentee
voting official in a particular |ocation. Currently, that
official signs, as the wtness on the absentee and in-person
oath and affidavit envelope, that he/she is providing a ball ot

to the voter. Regarding a comunity resident serving as an
extra wtness, she said she is not certain such a person would
al ways be available if needed. In response to Representative

Hughes, she said the locations of polling places vary: sone are
in community buildings, some in private residences, and sonme in
tribal offices. She said there are absentee voting officials in
about 49 city clerk offices statew de.

9:22:10 AM

M5. HUNTINGTON, regarding her previous reference to elders,
enphasi zed that the point is not whether they are Native or non-
Native, but whether or not they have a photo ID. Regar di ng
having another resident act as identifier, she said that would
apply in a worse-case scenario, since the division tries to have
two officials working in polling places.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -19- March 14, 2013



9:24:26 AM

KEN HELANDER, Director of Advocacy, AARP, said he is testifying

on behalf of AARP's 94,000 Al askan nenbers. He said AARP
believes that the right to vote, along with full and fair
representation is a basic denocratic right. He said ol der

individuals vote in disproportionately high nunbers, and AARP
has |ong advocated for fair and sinple procedures that
facilitate a high level of participation. M. Hel ander stated
that while AARP supports fair and effective procedures to detect
and prevent voter fraud, it does not support procedures that
reflect partisan bias or permt discrimnatory reviews or voter
chal I enges that may di scourage turnout by older voters. He said
t he argument has been nmade that Al aska has many close el ections
and that HB 3 would prevent such an el ection being decided by a
fraudul ent vote. He said AARP believes that the evidence is
| acking to support the existence of a problem with voter fraud
and that the potential is <created by HB 3 to even
unintentionally disenfranchise legitinmate voters. He stated,
"It is not worth the risk to discourage the right to vote to
even one legitimate voter for the sake of preventing a problem
that has not been shown to exist." He enphasized AARP' s strong
opposition to HB 3.

9:26:43 AM

CHAIR LYNN announced he would allow M. Lewis to give feedback
related to the statenents nmade by former testifiers.

MR. LEWS, regarding Ms. Huntington's statenent that she did not
know how soneone not from a community could vote in that
community, said the people who do so cone to [EIfin Cove] in
May, register to vote, and nost of those people are gone by
Sept enber . He offered his understanding that the Division of
El ections does not enforce its rules like the Al aska Departnent
of Fish & Ganme (ADF&5 or the Permanent Fund Division does, and
he expressed his desire to hear from Ms. Fenum ai regarding that
subj ect .

9:28: 08 AM

M5. FENUM AlI, regarding questioned ballots, noted that M.
Mttman had referenced a mnunicipal election, in which the state
has no invol venent. She said in the 2012 primary election:
4,751 questioned ballots were issued and voted; 4,380 of them
were accepted; 374 were rejected; and the majority of the

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 20- March 14, 2013



rejected ballots in that election were due to the fact that a
voter chose a type of ballot that he/she was not eligible to
vot e. She stated that in the 2012 General Election: 18, 255
guestioned ballots were issued and voted; 18,010 were accepted;
and 245 were rejected.

CHAI R LYNN observed that the vast mmjority of ballots voted in
both the primary and Ceneral Elections were accepted.

MS. FENUM Al said that is true.
9:29:31 AM

REPRESENTATI VE | SAACSON asked Ms. Fenumai to clarify how the
af orenenti oned ball ots were rejected.

M5. FENUM Al answered that she could get that information for
the conmittee.

REPRESENTATI VE | SAACSON posited that having that information
before the proposed legislation is heard by the House Judiciary
Standing Commttee would be good, because why certain ballots
are being rejected "hits to the heart of this."

9:30:10 AM

REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES asked how long a person has to be in
Al aska before being eligible to register to vote.

9: 30: 32 AM

M5. FENUM Al answered that a person is eligible to register to
vote immedi ately upon his/her arrival to the state, but is not
eligible to vote unless registered a mninmm of 30 days before
t he el ection. She added that the State of Alaska's law allows
regi stered voters to remain registered in the state as |long as
they claimintent to return.

9: 30: 58 AM

REPRESENTATI VE | SAACSON asked if someone who clainms intent to
return has to surrender residency [in another state].

M5. FENUM Al responded that AS 15.05.020 discusses the rules for
determining the residence of a voter and is quite |engthy. In
response to a followup question, she said a person who
registers to vote in Al aska surrenders his/her right to vote in

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -21- March 14, 2013



another state, if he/she was previously registered to vote in
anot her state. She said there is nothing on Alaska's
certification form that states that the person is surrendering
all rights associated with another state.

REPRESENTATI VE | SAACSON said since the division does not have
policing authority and does not really cross-check records, a
person in Alaska as a seasonal worker, for exanple, could
register to vote in Alaska "surreptitiously" and also be voting
in his/her "real” hone.

VB. FENUM Al remarked wupon the timng of Representative
| saacson's question. She explained that the state just
participated in a cross-state match of voter registrations with
21 states, and she is just now receiving the statistics that may
show how many dual registrations there are and whether there are
any voters who tried to vote twice in the |ast General Election.
She said Al aska has done cross-state nmatches in the past wth
Washi ngton and Oregon and has renoved voters fromthe list. She
indicated that people forgetting to |let another state know they
have changed registration is often innocent. She expl ained that
if soneone registers to vote in the State of Al aska and provides
the information that he/she is registered to vote in, for
exanple, Honolulu, Hawaii, the division will send notification
to the Hawaii Division of Elections.

9:33: 57 AM

REPRESENTATI VE | SAACSON surm sed that sonmeone could be purposely
trying to commt voter fraud for the purpose of establishing
residency and obtaining a permanent fund dividend. He said 21
out of 50 states is a start, but is not really a conprehensive
list.

M5. FENUM Al said a total of 82 mllion records were conpared
across the 21 states, and she said she would have to return to
the office to check on the records, which she said she would be
happy to share with the comm ttee.

REPRESENTATI VE | SAACSON asked if that would be in the next 30 or
so days.

M5. FENUM Al answered yes.

9:35:12 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -22- March 14, 2013



REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES asked if the cross checking with the 21
states is checking only for people who are dually registered or
if it is also checking to see how nany people voted in nore than
one state.

M5. FENUM Al said the cross check is also looking at voting in
the 2012 General Election. 1In response to a follow up question
she said the cross check is a voluntary state participation.
She stated her understanding that the last tinme this was done,
there were about 12 states that participated in the program so
participation has increased. She said the only cost associ ated
with the cross check is for the division to mail notices to
voters to let them know when there is double registration, but
there is no cost for sending the data and finding the matches.
She said the match is not guaranteed to be perfect, because, for
exanple, there could be three people with the sanme nane, sane
last four digits in their social security nunbers, and sane
birthdate. She said the division needs the voter to inform the
division that he/she wants to be renoved from the voter rolls.
She offered her wunderstanding that automatically renoving the
person from the rolls would be in violation of the National
Vot er Regi stration Act.

REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES asked if, after providing the notice, the
di vision woul d discount a person's vote if it knew that person
was still registered in another [state].

M5. FENUM Al said she has not thought that far ahead, but thinks
there would be a way that the division could notate that there
could be a problem with that person's registration and to
val idate his/her registration again in the State of Al aska.

9:37:46 AM

REPRESENTATI VE KREI SS- TOWKI NS asked if a photo 1D requirenent
woul d prevent a voter fromcommtting absentee voter fraud.

M5. FENUM Al answered that those who vote absentee by nmail are
not required to provide photo ID unless they did not provide the
required ID at the tine they registered to vote by mil, in
whi ch case they would be required to provide a copy of photo ID
when they vote.

REPRESENTATI VE KREI SS- TOWKI NS expressed interest in seeing the
results of the aforenentioned report.

9:39: 09 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -23- March 14, 2013



CHAIR LYNN, after ascertaining that there was no one else who
wi shed to testify, closed public testinony.

9:39: 25 AM

REPRESENTATI VE KELLER expressed ideas about the neaning of
noving a bill out of conmttee.

9:40: 30 AM

REPRESENTATI VE | SAACSON  sai d he believes the bill is
commendabl e, because fraud is beconming nore of a national issue.
Further, he said he agrees that HB 3 is not ainmed at any
particul ar people, but is a preventative measure. Neverthel ess,
he nmentioned federal overreach, and he enphasized concern that
the state governnment nmay be overreaching. He explained that his
support for [HB 3] has gone from "really warnm to "lukewarm™
Regarding [M. WIIlis's] remarks about seasonal residents who
may be voting in nore than one state, Representative |saacson

said that "can be malicious intent.” He said the intent of the
bill is not to prevent any legitimte Al aska voter from having a
voi ce. He remarked that sone people think increasing
restrictions for gun owners will "stop crooks,"” but he said the
opposite is true. He said he would vote to nove HB 3 out of
committee, with no recomendation, because he would like it
heard in the House Judiciary Standing Comrittee, but asked that
consideration be given to nmaking sense. He questioned the
timng of the |egislation. He said he is looking forward to

seeing the report nention by Ms. Fenum ai.

CHAIR LYNN concurred wth Representative |saacson that the
proposed legislation nust not disenfranchise any legitimte
voters frombeing able to vote.

9:46: 55 AM

REPRESENTATI VE KREI SS- TOWKINS prefaced his remarks by saying
that he thinks the bill was introduced with good intentions and
fraud is a huge problem He recomended the Division of

El ections could expand the aforenentioned cross reference from
21 to 50 states. He stated he has two fundanental problens with
HB 3: First, he said, "I feel it flies in the face of reality
as far as their being an actual problem"” He gave an exanple of
flying in Alaska on small planes and not having to go through
TSA security. He said flight security is inportant, but if
people had to go through TSA to travel on small planes, there

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 24- March 14, 2013



woul d be an uproar in the state for good reason; it is entirely
i npractical . He said he is not sure there is a problem with
peopl e i npersonating other people when voting; however, he said
there may be a problem with nultiple registrations in other
st ates.

REPRESENTATI VE KREI SS-TOWI NS said that in rural Al aska there is

a real concern about wundue regulation. He enphasized the
i nportance of avoi di ng even t he appear ance of
di senfranchi senent, and the proposed Ilegislation may cause

frustration and alienation if people have to cast a separate
type of ballot because they don't have photo ID. He said he
cannot support HB 3, because of the aforenentioned reasons and
because of the feedback he has received fromhis constituents.

9:51: 09 AM

REPRESENTATI VE HUGHES said she thinks the sponsor's intent is
good, and said she believes the integrity of the voting process
is inmportant to all Al askans. Not wi t hstanding that, she said
al t hough she likes the concept of the proposed |egislation, she
has concerns about it in its present form She said keeping
| egislation sinple can be good in sonme cases, but not allow ng
exceptions for elders under HB 3 concerns her. She stated her
belief that every person's vote has value, and said not one
voter should be disenfranchised. She nentioned exenptions nmade
by sone states for seniors who are no [|onger driving. She
opined that a questioned ballot is not ideal. She said she
woul d vote to nove HB 3 out of commttee, but expressed her hope
that the House Judiciary Standing Commttee would respect the
i nportance of allowing every voter a vote, ideally w thout that
vote being nmade on a questioned ballot. She stated that in nany
pl aces, early voting is the norm and two election workers are
not present in that scenario. She reiterated her idea to allow
a comunity nenber to act as the second person [required under
HB 3] to sign off as knowi ng the voter. Further, she said she
thinks it is inportant to offer a photo ID at no charge.

9:54: 14 AM
CHAIR LYNN expressed appreciation to the conmittee for its
t horough consideration of HB 3. He stated support of the

proposed | egi sl ati on and reenphasi zed the intent of bill.

9: 55: 22 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -25- March 14, 2013



REPRESENTATI VE KELLER noved to report HB 3 out of commttee with
i ndi vidual recomrendations and the acconpanying fiscal notes.
There being no objection, HB 3 was reported out of the House
State Affairs Standing Conmittee.

9:55: 54 AM
ADJ QURNVENT
There being no further business before the commttee, the House

State Affairs Standing Cormmittee neeting was adjourned at 9:56
a.m

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 26- March 14, 2013



